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Chapter 1

Death threats and attempts on her life were not something Sara Mason anticipated when charging into her new career of solving cold cases. Two of her past cases made her wary. She needed to be. The cases involved violent serial killers who set their sights on her when they suspected she was on to them.

The deadbolts were locked on the entry doors of her home. The noise from outside was a caution. Someone had driven down off the levee and onto her gravel driveway, but she heard nothing more. Silence had become one of the best warning signals she knew.

Must be someone using my driveway to turn around.

The Sacramento River Delta levee roads, two narrow lanes and sometimes just one, left no room for turning to reverse directions. In many places, there were no soft shoulders. The asphalt was laid to the levee edges to widen the lanes. It was fairly common for a driver to pull into a random driveway. Deltans knew and understood why, but by now, she should have heard gravel crunch as the driver returned to the levee.

One of the past cases involving murder victims' remains found on and near her property in Courtland, California made Sara alert to many things people took for granted. She was instrumental in capturing the Delta serial killer, almost at the cost of her life as she acted as the Sheriff's decoy.

She had returned to her childhood hometown to fulfill a lifelong dream of owning a Victorian home along the Sacramento River. When she learned of the serial killer, and that he had his sights set on her, it forced her into a whole new awareness for safety. Serial killer profilers had difficulty pin-pointing a Modus-operandi. He didn't stick to one type of person to victimize. Not tall slender blue-eyed blondes like her. Not model-type dark-eyed brunettes like her cherished friend, Daphine Whelan. Not prostitutes, nor young or old women. His victims included men too.

Not until after his capture, did they learn that this psychopath victimized anyone he thought had wronged him, including his parents, as was later learned. Sara had resisted his advances when they first casually met and that ticked him off. That case is what drew Sara and Huxley Keane into an all-encompassing love for one another. After becoming involved in solving cold cases created by this killer, Sara and Huxley joined forces to search for missing persons.

During three Spring seasons, Sara accompanied Huxley and a team of Veterans on an MIA search in the Vietnam jungle. His brother, Rocky, was among the missing, as was Betty, the daughter of their mutual friend, Esmerelda Talbot. Much younger and stronger, Huxley was both motivation and a morale booster for the older veterans. During the last trip when Sara went along, a couple of years earlier, more meager remains were found. Huxley had returned to the States to get them identified.

Before returning to the states, Sara stopped for a rest on Kauai where she nearly fell into the purchase of a second home. There she became involved in a new cold case of a missing six-year-old girl. Twice there, she narrowly lost her life to the killer. The one person no one suspected. Those experiences proved that killers can be close by. It was a hard lesson about taking proper precautions and about keenly protecting herself.

I hope I never again come that close to dying.

She listened for other sounds in the driveway. The silence sent a warning stream of adrenaline through her system.

More recently, while Huxley was in Oregon spending time with his family, she had worked a couple of missing teenager cases in the Sacramento suburbs. Those cases hadn't been threatening in any way. She wondered why teens ran away so much in these modern times. The teenagers were returned home. The emotional reward helped restore Sara's desire to get involved in a new search. Huxley suggested one. This new case involved finding a person close to family.

Sara listened, keen to every tiny noise. No other sounds came from the driveway. Past experiences stayed fresh in her mind and drove home the value of life.

The windows in her monstrous house were locked with some simply made not to open. She also had a state-of-the-art alarm system installed back when she was being stalked. She was glad no stranger could easily get inside the house.

She was upstairs in Daphine's art studio in the spacious attic of her refurbished old Victorian. She had been cleaning up after installing a dedicated heating and cooling system for Daphine's comfort. It was a busy morning, but she had lots she could accomplish on the property before this day was over.

At night, she stayed indoors most of the time unless with friends. Night-time was when activity ceased at her property and provided uninterrupted time to create her DVD games for children, which continued to produce copious amounts of income.

The rural levee roads along the Sacramento River were not lit with streetlights the way major streets were illuminated in most small local towns. The closest neighbor was nearly half a mile away. Daphine and her art gallery activities taking place at the house helped Sara feel secure. After the big Victorian was refurbished and livable, Sara installed a spa and a 20x60 foot swimming pool which was used by local community groups teaching children to swim.

Sara patiently listened for other sounds but heard only passing traffic on the levee in front of her home. Ranchers and crop hauling trucks made use of every passable farm road. During summer and fall, the river levees were normally glutted with trucks and vehicles hauling freshly picked produce and fruit. Pleasure-seekers towed boats to and from launching ramps. Pockets of diesel fumes hung in the air everywhere. Asphalt pavements melted and sizzled and sent up dancing waves of heat. Crop picking and harvesting was now well underway and would proceed into October. It was a scorching July that sometimes made it difficult breathing.

Unfamiliar faces were everywhere, either working the crops or enjoying water sports on the river. The interior Delta farmlands from Sacramento in the north to southern California were crawling with migrant workers. Still others preferred not to work but to wreak havoc in people's lives. Their criminal activities took advantage of the influx of newcomers to hide among and victimize. The crime rate rose dramatically during the summer months.

Sara listened. The person using her driveway hadn't left.

Better sneak a look… hope that's not another prowler casing my place… and in broad daylight too.







Chapter 2

Out in the driveway, a car door slammed suddenly. The hair on the nape of her neck stood up. Sara eased down the stairs, bypassing the second floor, and quietly waited at the landing above the next staircase. It would lead down into the dining room just off the kitchen.

Someone opened the screen door off the back porch and fumbled with the door lock. Sara's heart raced. She didn't need to deal with yet another prowler. Did she have time to run to her bedroom and get her gun? Her bedroom was right over the kitchen. Someone breaking into the porch then entering the kitchen might hear her above them.

The screen door flapped shut as the porch door opened. She heard nothing more. Who had made entry? Tripp Unwin, the serial killer who left bodies throughout Sacramento and the Delta, including her property, was the only person she knew who could pick a lock that easily. Surely, he couldn't be out of prison… or escaped? Having admitted to over thirty murders, he should have received the sentence of lethal injection, but California had long ago stopped the death penalty.

She touched the cell phone hanging on her waistband. She would go back into the attic and bolt the door and call 911. She heard only silence. Just as she turned to climb back up into the attic, the door between the porch and kitchen opened.

“Sara! Sara! Where are you?”

She expelled a forceful breath and nearly collapsed from relief. He must have paused on the back porch to check the alarm system in case he needed to disarm it before it sounded. She had left the alarm system off this morning since the contractor needed to come in and out. She quickly descended the staircase and met him at the bottom.

“Hux! You told me you'd be here tomorrow.”

“Got away early.” His smile beamed. His blue-topaz eyes held their constant sparkle. How could he look so fresh after the flight from his home in Oregon? His dark hair was mussed. He preferred fresh air, regardless of the heat, and always drove with the windows down.

Huxley could wear everyday clothes and still look like a model. His checkered teal and orange flannel shirt over a teal T-shirt fit in with the local faded vibe. So did his light brown Urban Shepherd boots and denim jeans rolled at the ankles. Then how he could re-invent himself with a suit and tie was amazing. A man for all seasons. Just a tall, broad-shouldered, better than average looking guy, with eyes that made her melt.

She finally calmed. “You're not driving your truck.” He looked at her curiously and waited for her explanation. “I always recognize the sound of your pickup, the door slam, too, but something's different.”

He dropped a 12x12x8 inch sealed cardboard box with airlines carry-on tags onto the little breakfast table that stood in the middle of the kitchen. He shed the flannel shirt and hung it on the back of a chair, then smiled and nodded as if pleased she noticed. Noticing such small details was critical in the cold case searches that they investigated.

“Had a blow out. My cell is dead. Left my truck in Elk Grove and got a loaner.” He thumbed toward the outside.

“Elk Grove? That's a short drive up the road. You could have borrowed a phone. I'd have picked you up.”

He feigned disappointment at the scolding as they stood beside the table. “Sorry… wanted to surprise you.”

“Ha! You did!”

They stood smiling at each other. Then they rushed into a tight embrace. Sara raised up on tiptoes as the six-foot Huxley took her into his strong arms. He was muscular and Sara always felt safe when he wrapped her in his arms. They kissed lovingly.

“Missed you. Couldn't get here fast enough.” He breathed deeply.

Sara always put on a spritz of her favorite Balahe perfume every morning, no matter what. Huxley reveled in the scent of it. Somehow a tantalizing scent seemed to seal their wants during hugs.

The tire problem was unexpected, but for Huxley to allow his cell phone power to run down was unheard of. Usually, he was astute about everything. Yet, recent developments, or lack thereof, in the search for his MIA brother's remains was pulling his thoughts in too many directions.

Sara pointed at the box. “The letters… from your mom?”

“Many letters.” He sighed and sank into a chair. “And some photos.”

“You open. I'll make coffee.”

“Not on your life.” He took his hands away from the box. “Make the coffee. We'll open together.”

She pulled a coffee can out of the cabinet. Huxley was tough about a lot of things, but the thought of reading old letters from his long-missing brother left him feeling helpless. He needed her at his side. She loved him. She would be there for him, wherever this current search took them, no matter what they might find.

The coffee made and hot mugs sitting on the table, Sara produced a knife to open the package. Huxley slit the strapping tape on the box and laid the knife aside. He didn't open the flaps right away. He sat with his hands clasped flat together and pressed them against his lips. Information in this box would provide some of the most defining clues leading to verifying the key found in the Vietnam jungle. He believed the key belonged to his brother, Rocky.

Sara had not accompanied him and the veterans on their most recent trek through the jungle. Huxley's purpose for that trip was to receive the key. Then he had been taken to a suspected remains area the team had not known about till that time.

The key and letters were much discussed by Huxley and his family, as Huxley previously related to Sara. Rocky's fiancée, Emma Ellis, had given him the key to the apartment she shared with her sister, Evelyn. In case he should return to San Francisco unexpectedly, he would have a place to stay.







Chapter 3

For years, Huxley and a search party of veterans had scoured an overgrown trail and peripheral areas for remains of the Navy nurses. They were forced by the Viet Cong to hike through the jungle. The group was kidnapped outside the NSA Hospital in Da Nang in 1972. Rocky, one of the nurses, was reported missing in August.

Sara and their mutual friend, Esmerelda Talbot, had been allowed to join Huxley and the veterans on several of the searches. During Sara and Esmerelda's last trip, the remains of Esmerelda's Navy nurse daughter, Betty, had been located and returned to her.

This, especially, deepened Huxley's desperate longing to find his brother. His strain and disappointment lurked under the surface of the facade of motivation. He had been the one to present Esmerelda with her daughter's remains. It wasn't only because they were close friends. It was because Huxley needed the feeling of completion, the experience of being rewarded for years of trekking through that desolate poisoned jungle. If he couldn't present his parents with his brother's remains, presenting Esmerelda with her daughter's remains helped him feel the release that came with knowing her search was over.

Then Huxley learned of a young Hmong boy in a jungle village. He wore a key on a string around his neck. His aging uncle gave it to him and told him that someone may come looking for the key. He was to give it to them because it belonged to them.

Huxley's veteran search team was invited to join JPAC out of Tripler Army Medical Center in Honolulu. Instead of following the former trails the veteran's team searched, a separate JPAC group would scour that area again. Another JPAC group, including Huxley and several of the veterans, broke away and went directly north to the area where the key was found. There they searched for additional remains.

They learned that the young Hmong boy's uncle who found the key had long since passed away. He had, however, taken the boy to the spot where the key was found. The boy, now a grown man still wearing the key, then led the team to an overgrown spot far north along the disappearing trail. Forest detritus nearly hid the pathway, but the narrow footpath was being used again by the local Montenyards, the Hmong people of the jungle. Some were daring to return to their jungle homes even though, after nearly fifty years, the ground was still contaminated with Agent Orange.

As with the previous searches, former Honolulu policeman turned forensic dog trainer, Thanh Van Thuy and his two German shepherds, Iwi and Laka, accompanied the search party. The search was made over a wide area away from the path because of the location of the key off the trail. Rocky may have made a run for it. Maybe he hadn't, but they needed to assure no remains were missed.

Huxley unclasped his hands, looked up suddenly, and found Sara eying him lovingly. “I'm alright.” Yet, his expression was distressed. “Was just remembering what it was like being in the area where Rocky may have died. Trying to feel what may have happened to him.”

Sara took his hands in hers. “Like Esmerelda digging in the dirt, trying to find more of those gold chain links, or the other half of the dog tag.”

“And not knowing till later that she was sitting on the very spot where her daughter died. Those few bits we found were her daughter's only remains.” Huxley seemed to cave in momentarily. Finding remains and identifying them seemed the only event that could test his emotions. He straightened in his chair. “Maybe I walked on the same spot on this earth where my brother met his end.” He shook his head as if denial might make Rocky's death untrue. Huxley's blue-topaz eyes held a distant look.

Sara waited, knowing she needed to allow him to talk, to voice his feelings and frustrations. “Is there a chance they could find more?”

“If this key matched, if it belonged to Rocky, I'd like to go back to the spot where he died, just sit there a while. And… maybe I could do something for those Hmong people who protected this key all those years.”

Sara hurt for him. “We have to verify the key first.” She knew it was a long shot. So did Huxley. Rocky was listed as an MIA in 1972. Tracing Emma Ellis over the decades seemed futile.

Huxley motioned to the box. “You ready for this?”

She nodded, sat, and drew her chair alongside him. As she got to know him, when he felt uncertain, she noticed he liked to feel her close to him. Now she moved her leg to touch his and left it there. She slipped out of a shoe and placed her bare foot on top of his shoe. She loved Huxley with all her heart and had cried with him over his missing brother. His elderly parents needed to know their son's whereabouts or receive something of his remains before they, too, passed away.

Huxley reached for his wallet and removed the old silver key. He ran a thumb over it and finally laid it on the tabletop. The groove the bullet made told a harrowing story of its own.

The key was a Yale 1960s apartment key with a manufactured hole in the round head. It also contained what was judged to be the markings of a bullet that had hit the key and ricocheted. It could mean that Rocky had been shot and the bullet ricocheted off the key and possibly hit his heart or lungs.

According to Palmer Dane, a Marine accidently nabbed with the Navy nurses and who later escaped, the Viet Cong used AK-47s, 7.62x39mm, which were made in Russia. Since the key was found in the ground a few feet off the trail, Rocky may have run but was shot while escaping. Whether shot from close range or running, Rocky never knew what hit him. Unless his killer faced him or stood nearby, he may have seen it coming. If the bullet ricocheted as was thought, Rocky didn't have a chance.

Huxley was only eight years old when Rocky went into the Navy in 1970, ten years old when Rocky went missing in 1972. Once grown and committed to the searches, Huxley had a lot to learn.

“JPAC hasn't sent word of any new findings so far, but they're still out on this year's trip. I hope they don't make this their last trip for our group.” He took a breath and expelled it in frustration. “Emma may be our only chance to verify this key belonged to Rocky.” His gaze became pensive again. “If we find the match, then we can assume my brother died in that forlorn jungle, even if they don't find dog tags or bone fragments in that acidic soil.”

He had run ads in the San Francisco newspapers, continued to scour the Internet, Facebook, Twitter, and numerous other sites to find Emma or her sister, Evelyn, but to no avail. Despite his numerous government agency connections, he remained a civilian and not allowed to secure information about their Social Security accounts. Whether or not they were presently being used, and where, could have the potential to tremendously shorten their search efforts.

“What if we find Emma and she kept her key, but the keys don't match?”

“Then Rocky's still an MIA or worse.” Huxley slowly shook his head. “He could to this day be held in an undisclosed prison camp or died there. It's been forty-seven years. He'd be seventy years old now. If he was held in a prison camp, he could have died from malnutrition or disease.” Huxley grimaced, surely not wanting to believe any of it. He reached for the key but stopped himself. “This key may be all we have left of my brother. Emma is our only hope.”

“Even though she may have moved on with her life.”

“Wait till we read the letters.” Huxley finally opened the flaps of the box. “Mom and I read most of them together when I was in my late teens. I guess I asked her too many times about Rocky, so she filled me in. That's when I decided I'd search for him. We need to glean as much new information from this mail as we can. The way Emma spoke of Rocky; he was her one and only. I'm praying that no matter where life took her, she kept a matching key.”







Chapter 4

Slowly, Huxley began lifting out the aging letters, placing them meticulously in a row on the tabletop. He found two larger envelopes, looked at the dates, and peeked inside. “Birthday cards.” He smiled sadly. “1971 and '72. His birthday was March 10th.” He placed them aside.

Sara watched him knowing that finding his brother's remains, and locating Emma, was Huxley's whole life. Sara remained quiet, more concerned with Huxley's emotions at that moment. He was a person as strong emotionally as she'd ever known. If anything could tear at him, weaken him, it would be finding positive proof that his brother had died.

Huxley wasn't obsessive-compulsive in the way he handled the old mail. He simply meant to treat the precious letters with respect. Next, he brought out a batch of letters tied together with a yellow ribbon in a bow, separate from the others.

“Mom must have tied them up with this ribbon.”

Lastly, he pulled out a fat yellow manila envelope. He opened it, peeked inside, and poured out a batch of various sized photos beside the letters. Huxley was always methodical. Sara had come to love this about him, though he was able to change the course of things in an instant when a situation dictated an immediate switch. He dropped the empty envelope and box onto a chair.

Sara watched him for any signs of extreme stress. She really had no idea how this search might affect him. “We will learn more. We will find Emma.”

He untied the ribbon from the separated batch and flipped through, reading each post date quietly as only his lips moved. “Oh no.” He handed the letter from the bottom of the small pile to Sara. “Tell me this isn't…” He swallowed hard, unable to speak.

Sara studied the handwriting on the envelope and then flipped it over. Goosebumps traipsed down her arms. Her hand shook as she looked closer. “Oh, Hux…” She felt a lump rise in her throat. “This letter hasn't been opened. It's from Emma to Rocky. Do you know what that post date means?”

Huxley took a deep breath and cast his gaze toward the ceiling, as if trying to retain some composure. “It means Rocky's never read it. Most likely, it's Emma's last letter to my brother before she learned he went missing. Rocky didn't have a chance to read it.” He placed the special letters aside and stood and paced like he usually did to dispel nervous energy and to think. “Rocky's personal belongings in Vietnam were delivered to Mom and Dad when the Navy listed him as an MIA. I didn't know about this batch of letters. Of course, Mom wouldn't read them to me. If they are full of love and commitment, I would have been too young to understand.”

Sara turned to face him as he leaned against the kitchen counter. “Did your mom at least tell you about these?”

He turned and slid the kitchen window open though the air conditioning was running. Normally, he'd say to open windows and air out the house a bit. The gesture of opening the window now was subconscious, representing his need for freedom from a situation encompassing him.

“No, Mom is not the type to pry. I have no idea if she read them. If she did, she would have read them privately just to feel closer to Rocky.”

“But still, she didn't open that last letter.”

They stared at each other, both knowing what the other was thinking. “We won't open this. We won't read this stack. These letters will be too personal.” She made a motion as if to push the letter away. “We'll find Emma and give her this special packet of letters along with the rest.”

He came to stand beside her, staring at the old mail laying on the table which was, undoubtedly, full of history. He turned to enclose her in his arms. “Thank you, my precious Sara. I'm glad you're with me in this.” He pulled away and gathered up the special letters, put the unopened one on the bottom of the stack again, and wrapped them with the yellow ribbon. He fumbled, trying to retie the bow. “You know? I have to look for her, but what if we find her and she's gone sour? What if we open a bucket of worms?”

“You're thinking too far into the future, Hux. Don't borrow problems.” Sara reached over and re-tied the bow for him. “These other letters and the photos will tell us where to begin looking for Emma.”







Chapter 5

Huxley sat again and laid the special stack aside. The postmarks on the other envelopes were faded and barely discernible. He removed and unfolded the contents of each, placing them atop their respective envelopes. Letters from Rocky to his parents were among the treasures. He paused to quickly glance over certain ones. He handled the faded and wrinkled old papers as if they were the most precious items in his possession.

“Let's read them together. I need your input, Sara. You have a knack for picking up remote clues.”

Sara squeezed his hand, slipped into her chair, and leaned closer as they both read the first one silently.

 

September 15, 1970

 

Dear Mr. and Mrs. Keane,

 

Rocky said that it would be OK to write to you once in a while. I'm writing to let you know about me. I miss him a lot. We got engaged July 4th, two days before he shipped out. I know he told you about me. He told me when he comes home, he will bring me to Oregon to meet you and his sister and little brother.

I live in San Francisco. My sister, Evelyn, and I manage a large apartment building on Page street. Our parents used to manage but they're gone, and we took over. I'm 21 and I'm the boss. My sister is 20 and works for me. Sometimes she works in other places to make more money. She dates a lot too. Our job here is a lot of work but we have an assistant manager. He lives in the building on the first floor across from us.

The building is old, but we have a nice apartment. My dad fixed it up a long time ago. It's the best apartment in the whole building. We don't go too many places because we work a lot. It helps pass the time till Rocky comes home. I gave Rocky a key so he would have a place to stay when he comes back to San Francisco. He promised to wear it taped inside his shirt pocket so it's close to his heart. I love him for doing that.

My sister used to date Rocky before me, but she went out with somebody else and they broke up after only a couple of months. She was sad at first, and even mad at me. She's real moody sometimes but I guess she's okay that Rocky and I are engaged.

I hope you will write to me once in a while because I know you miss Rocky too.

 

Very truly yours,

Emmalyn

P.S. You can call me Emma

 

Sara glanced over the message again. “This is from a young inexperienced person, Hux.”

“It's a bit juvenile, even the handwriting, but special anyway.”

“She sounds young, innocent for being twenty-one years old.”

Huxley stared at the letter. “Uh, yeah. Innocent compared to today's young.”

“Doesn't sound like she gets out much, always working in that apartment building. The sister may be the more worldly one.”

“From what I've been able to put together when I was old enough to read and understand these letters, these girls didn't socialize much, just managed that big building. I was only eight years old when this letter came.” He folded the piece of paper and inserted it back into the envelope.

“If we find Emma, maybe she'll have saved her mail from Rocky and your mom and dad too.”

“Here's something.” He picked up another missive. “It's one of Mom and Dad's letters to Rocky.” The letter was lengthy. “It's mostly about the work going on at the farm, but here, read this part.”

 

September 30, 1970

 

…We welcome knowing Emma. If you chose her, she must be a special person. We would love to know more about her and look forward to one day meeting her. We told her we have a large farm property in the Coburg Ridge foothills, in the shadow of Indian Head peak. Once you come home, please bring her with you. It might be a relaxing change for her to get away from The City and her job for a while. We told her about Kerrie and Huxley but we're sure you have also. We're praying for your safe return. Come back to us soon.

 

Love,

Mom and Dad

 

Huxley shook his head. “My poor mom, poor dad. They've waited so long.”

“I've never asked you their ages.”

Huxley paused, got a distant look in his eyes, then shook his head. “Both are ninety. They went to school together. Got married. Rocky was born near the end of their second year in college, but they still finished and got their degrees. They are inseparable.”

“Strong determined people, and very old now.”

“I know, I know. They both have failing memories. Waiting for Rocky is what's keeping them alive, but they're failing now.”

Sara rubbed the back of his neck, something that always helped him to relax. “We will bring him home, Hux. A lot of years have passed but we will prevail. It's what we're good at. Every search we've done so far has prepared us for this one. We'll find Emma. One way or another, we will have closure for you and your whole family, no matter what it takes.”







Chapter 6

Sara brought bottled water from the fridge rather than drink more coffee that late in the day. She and Huxley read a few more of the letters and folded them away once again. Then Sara noticed something peculiar in the next letter. “Oh, Hux, look what she told your parents.”

 

July 15, 1971

 

Dear Audrey and Mather,

 

We are still working hard at our jobs. So many people with different lives is hard to keep track of. Evelyn went to collect late rent from a tenant. When she was in the apartment, she heard the tenant scream. The woman's toddler fell out of the window four floors up. That's the top floor. The baby died. The windows high up don't have screens because they're impossible to install. The mother must have left the window open and the toddler went out.

The police questioned Evelyn and the mom and Evelyn got really scared. She told the police that there was a flowerpot beside the window and the toddler used it to climb up. The little boy was born retarded and the mother thought it might have been for the best and Evelyn agreed. I am sick about this and do not know how Evelyn could agree to such things. Lots of things happen in an apartment building this size.

I have received a few letters from Rocky with some pictures. He sent you the same ones. He's so handsome, even in his work clothes. He is my one and only. I will love him forever.

Our anniversary on July 4th was sad for me. Sometimes I cry and get depressed. Evelyn feels that way too. I think she's still in love with him. She gets moody and real angry and won't let me talk about him. Rocky is lucky. He has two of us waiting for him. I hope Evelyn is okay that I will be the one to marry him. She keeps the pictures of him and her. Some were taken at Playland at the Beach. She keeps them because there are rumors The City will tear Playland down. I know she keeps them because she's still in love with him. She keeps a picture of them together on her nightstand.

That's all the news I have today. Thank you for always writing me back.

 

Yours truly,

Emma

 

“Wow, Hux, back then they still used the term retarded instead of Down Syndrome.”

“Sad about that baby.” He shook his head.

Sara held onto the letter, re-reading it. “Wait a second.”

“What is it?”

“If we don't find Emma, would we be able to find the sister? I'll bet those two didn't stay together through the years though.”

“Why do you say that?”

She pointed to several lines in the letter. “Evelyn is not very happy that her sister is engaged to her former boyfriend. It was enough of a problem that Emma spoke of it to your parents.”

“You're doing it again.”

“What am I doing?”

“Thankfully doing, Sara. You're reading hidden meanings behind the words. You pick up things that most people miss, like that lost girl you found last year.”

“I remember. It was that first case I took after I came home from Hawaii.”

“You sensed the situation correctly from reading her diary. Just like now, with this letter. You may be onto something here.”

“I sense more than a bit of animosity from Evelyn toward her sister. And regardless she's aware of her sister's jealousy, Emma is pretty naive.”

“I don't know how you do it.”

“You do it, Hux. You know how to read your intuition.”

“But you're so fast.”

“You also have a photographic memory. You remember things once you've seen them. You think that doesn't help?”

Huxley squeezed her hand and read the letter again. Then he scattered the fading photos on the tabletop until he found several of Rocky in his uniform. Huxley stood again suddenly, his chair scraping the floor. He held Rocky's picture and looked at it, almost put it down, and looked at it again.

“The last thing Rocky told me before he left was that he'd teach me how to ride his motorcycle when he returned.” His eyes glossed over. He paced, finally standing again near the counter, stealing glances at the photo he held, and staring out the kitchen window till he calmed.

Huxley was fascinated with motorcycles, but Sara understood why he would never ride one. He, too, had waited, wanting that first ride to be with his brother. She picked up other photos. Huxley had grown to look so much like Rocky.

“Beside her sweet looks, Emma must have been a nice person to catch your great looking brother.”

Huxley eased back into his chair and laid the photo down. They continued reading letters, mostly between Rocky and his parents, and looking at the aging photos. Some engagement shots of Rocky and Emma lay among the treasures. The stunning engagement ring was front and center in the picture of their hands. A large center diamond stood high with a large diamond on each side. The backs of the pictures were dated July 6, 1972.

“Two days later, he shipped out.”

“They look happy.” Sara needed to keep Huxley's emotions buoyant. “Look at Emma's long silky dark hair and eyes.”

In all her pictures, she wore the same tiny red stud earrings. Then they found pictures of Emma and Evelyn at a birthday party with a cake on the table.

“Evelyn's pretty too. Her hair's a little lighter and shorter.”

Evelyn wore a box chain necklace with the turquoise stone pendant. What looked to be a thin Italian chain bracelet was the only jewelry Emma wore.

“Evelyn's not as pretty. What a beautiful smile Emma has.” Huxley sighed heavily. “They'd have been happy together.”

Sara placed her hand on his and squeezed. “We can't change the past.”

They studied the few remaining photos of Emma and Rocky together.

Huxley sighed. “Emma barely reaches his shoulder. She must have been tiny.”

“And he was massive. Just look at his build.”

“That's why Palmer Dane told us when he got sick, Rocky carried him on his back through the jungle. Palmer knew he was sick and would be killed. He ran for his life. He got shot and wounded but got rescued by the Hmong people.”

Sara needed to ask, though she knew Palmer and Huxley had become close. She gently touched his hand. “Do you feel any resentment that Palmer got away, and the rest, including Rocky, didn't?”

“No, Sara, you said it. 'We can't change the past.' Someone lived… someone lived to help us find the rest.” His answer was quick, mostly likely came straight from his heart.

Sara studied the photo. “He has blue eyes, too, but not the same topaz color as yours. Still…”

Huxley smiled. “Our family was always known for our blue eyes.”

Another photo showed the sisters among friends. Another showed the sisters side-by-side with a line of girls.

“Look at that, Hux.” Sara was surprised. “You almost can't tell the sisters apart.”

They looked closely. Emma looked to be a bit shorter than Evelyn. It would be easier to tell the sisters apart by their heights.

Another close-up showed the sisters with a couple of other girls. Sara studied the photos for a while. “I can see why Rocky would be attracted to either girl, but Evelyn doesn't smile as much as Emma.”

They needed to find these sisters. She studied the features of both in the close-up photo. Neither had birthmarks, moles, freckles, or any blemishes on their skin. Their faces would have changed with age, so Sara wanted to remember their facial structures and other attributes. Either sister would be crucial to the identity of the key.

In Emma's next letter to Audrey and Mather, she explained what Rocky had suggested.

 

January 10,1972

 

Dear Audrey and Mather,

 

Rocky surprised me with a suggestion. I wanted you to know in case he hasn't told you. It was an off-the-wall idea because he knows I get depressed about him being so far away. He wants me to move to Honolulu. He said Evelyn can probably manage the apartment building with the assistant manager. He will be passing through Honolulu when he comes home. He wants to show me the Hawaiian Islands before we settle down. We might even live there because he loves Hawaii.

He knows retired military friends who live there and are on the Board of Directors for their new apartment building. They need an experienced apartment manager. Rocky said I have the experience they need. I have thought about leaving this building because the memories of my family make me sad. I'm not sure what to do but I'd be closer to Rocky.

Evelyn doesn't want me to go. I think she's real jealous. Sometimes I think I could strangle her just to straighten her out. She changed for the worst when Rocky and I got engaged. I have to make her see if she replaces me as Manager, she could make a better salary. She always needs money and could stop borrowing from everybody. She confuses me. Should I go to Hawaii?

 

Thank you,

Emma

 

Huxley opened one more letter from his parents but only scanned it. “They told Rocky about Emma's comment about strangling Evelyn. They asked her not to think about harming her sister. They were hesitant about her being able to support herself in Honolulu, but if Rocky's friends would hire her, then she had a place to stay as well as a job.” He folded the letter again. “If things didn't work out, I know Mom and Dad would help her get back to San Francisco.” He stuck the letter back into the pile.

“That comment about strangling her sister must have surprised your parents.” Sara gestured toward the pile of letters, neatly stuffed back into their envelopes. “That's it? No further correspondence?”

“Just another one from Emma to Mom and Dad.” He didn't bother to show it and stuffed them all back into envelopes. “Chit-chat about what was going on at the apartment building.”

“And the deteriorating relationship between the sisters, right?” She went to close the kitchen window.

“You intuit that without reading these last ones?”

“Yes, because it bothered Emma enough to keep mentioning it, even though she didn't say anything specific. Sisterly rivalry, you think?”

“That's all we have to get us started.” Huxley stacked the photos and dropped them back into the manila envelope. “That's where communication ends but look at these.” He showed Sara the last two sealed letters his parents had sent to Emma in San Francisco. Both were stamped, Return to Sender – Addressee Unknown. One was date stamped January 20, 1973, the other March 14, 1973. “Mom was surprised she hadn't heard from Emma again after October of '72. It was one big mystery.”

“Seems we have only one recourse.” Sara looked at him hopefully. “San Francisco is where we should start.”

Not until recently did she realize traveling must be in her blood. After all, how could she as an eighteen-year-old dash off after her family's deaths and her finishing high school? She had escaped to Puerto Rico where she knew no one and didn't speak the language. She'd traveled some in the Caribbean. She'd also been to Vietnam three times and lived briefly on Kauai in Hawaii. Now she was willing to go wherever this special investigation took them.







Chapter 7

“Hurry up, Hux. Let's try to get there before dark.” They were getting a late start with much to do and both were antsy.

He slid the shower door open and poked his head out. “Oh, but showers are necessary. Jump in here with me.”

Neither Sara nor Huxley appreciated occurrences preventing them from getting on with things. Sara was still in her grubby denim capri shorts and shirt, having worked with the contractor up in the attic. Huxley needed to shower, change clothes, and repack since just returning from his trip to Oregon.

Once both were in the shower, they lathered each other and threw soap bubbles back and forth. They enjoyed being naked together, but it wasn't a time to fantasize about making love under a waterfall.

Huxley drove Sara's two-year-old dark green Jeep Wrangler Unlimited 4x4. She had purchased it from an old farmer who had fallen on hard times. Despite her reputation for solving cases, Sara wished to remain low-key in the Delta. She didn't wish to seem like she gloated over her ability to make millions off the DVD games she created for children. She bought the Jeep, denying herself another beautiful new Acura MDX Hybrid Minivan she had her eye on.

The farmer selling his vehicle got him out of financial distress. In character of quietly helping others, Sara also paid off his major debts with a promise that he never revealed the source of financial aid. The farmer promised. His business was flourishing again this year and he graciously insisted on paying her back.

If he tries to pay me back, I'll use it to set up a college fund for his grandkids, she had thought in response to his offer.

Sara found she could better transport furnishings and other items to service her property in the Jeep. She still thought about the Acura MDX Hybrid Minivan she nearly died in when run off the road on Kauai in Hawaii. She had added a pearlescent tone to the pale sky-blue color, the only car on the island that shade of azure. The Blue Pearl, she aptly named it. She seriously thought about buying another. Yet, it might make her think too often of nearly dying in the accident and the sociopath she helped bring to justice. In keeping with the farm country in which she lived, she named her green Jeep Wrangler the Green Bean.

She and Huxley visited the tire shop to pick up his old Ford truck. It had been cheap when he purchased it, him needing only transportation in the Delta. He had no qualms about leaving the old pickup parked at the Sacramento International Airport for weeks at a time when he had to go out of town. Recently, he had too much on his mind. He neglected the tires on the truck. The one that blew had ripped to shreds, a sign he had driven on it in a dangerous condition far too long. He was lucky to hobble to the tire shop. All the tires needed changing. That little chore would be handled when they returned from San Francisco. They backtracked and left the pickup in the garage at Sara's home.

Her home was aptly named Talbot House after Orson and Esmerelda Talbot who once owned it. Sara felt deep sympathy for Esmerelda when Orson's remains were found on the property. He had been murdered, a victim of Tripp Unwin. To honor Orson, she let the name of Talbot House remain.

By the time they left Courtland, the scorching afternoon heat had just about baked everything. People scattered for shade or shelter. The severe climate predicated having the A/C blowing until they made it through Rio Vista and Fairfield and picked up Hwy. 80. After passing Vallejo and entering the Bay Area, the A/C went off and the windows came down.

Huxley breathed a sigh of relief. It was late afternoon, but days were longer this time of year. Though he drove too fast, there really was no hurry, other than their eagerness to learn more about Emma's whereabouts.

Sara leaned toward Huxley to be heard over the sound of the wind whipping past the opened windows. “Given the years that have passed, this mystery won't be solved overnight.”

“Agreed.” He seemed wistful.

Night was approaching as they crossed the San Francisco/Oakland Bay Bridge. City lights began flickering on from both sides of The Bay. Huxley had kept the windows lowered. Wind off the ocean cooled the air, a blessed relief. When traveling, she wore her long blonde hair in one braid down the back. The breeze through the vehicle blew a few stray strands, which never bothered her.

Huxley breathed deeply. “We can probably get a room at Le Meridien. That's where our Vet team meets up when we cross back and forth over the Pacific.”

“Without a reservation?” Sara felt so much a part of Huxley's life, but he could still be full of surprises. “Can we get in this late?”

“I think so. They know me and our group.”

They wanted to start their search fresh in the morning, so decided to stretch their legs a bit after the two-hour drive. Later, they ate a sumptuous dinner at Swiss Louis on Pier 39 and watched the low-lying fog slither in over the water. The background of soothing dinner music was only punctuated by the occasional forlorn sound of a foghorn out on the bay. After dinner, they strolled the pier.

“Thank goodness the sea lions are gone.”

“What's that about?” She looked over the side of the pier.

“You don't know about the sea lions? After the 1989 Loma Prieta earthquake, the sea lions took up residence on these piers along the waterfront. You can't imagine what they sound like till you hear them bark.”

Sara chuckled. “Sea lions bark?” She knew nothing about San Francisco.

“Yeah, an ugly coarse sound when disturbed or protecting their territory, but they're gone now. They head south to the Channel Islands in June and July for mating season.”

Sara was learning and enjoying the night lights, cool breeze blowing over the pier, and the salty sea air. The hot cup of coffee she sipped warmed her. She stared at the steam rising from the sturdy paper cup and wondered when coffee had so easily slipped into their lives. Her mind flashed on mornings in the Vietnam jungle when everyone started their days with the strong black brew. She smiled; thankful it wasn't a chilled bottle of water she held just then as the wind gusted again. She pulled her light jacket close and looked back toward The City. “What's that light way up there. See it?” She pointed high in the sky. Drifts of fog momentarily blocked it, then it flashed again.

“I think that's Coit Tower, on the peak of Telegraph Hill, if I have my directions right.” He looked at her curiously. “You've never spent much time in San Francisco?”

“Only for a layover at the airport on our trips to Vietnam.” She smiled, remembering. “Also, decades ago, when I escaped to Puerto Rico.”

“I haven't spent much time either, only on meet-ups.” He looked at her sideways, like he was conjuring a plan. “We should check out this town, but not right now.”

“Remind me to bring heavier clothes next time.” She shivered and hugged herself.

It had been a tiring day and they both wanted some intimate time. Huxley had been away nearly three weeks and flew into Sacramento only a few hours earlier. They weren't two hot kids that would jump in bed at the drop of a hat, but their lovemaking was what sustained them.

Back in their hotel room, the cozy even heat took away the chill from the brisk San Francisco climate. Sara came out of the bathroom, wearing a lacy pink gown and negligee, with thoughts of pouring her love over Huxley and pleasuring him. She found him fast asleep.







Chapter 8

“Can we go right over to 363 Page Street, catch breakfast on the fly?” Sara wanted to begin tracing Emma Ellis's whereabouts as much as Huxley needed to.

“Not on your life.” His smile teased. “We need to power up.”

They had dressed in warmer clothes. City clothes, Huxley called them. Tailored tan slacks, beige dress shirt, and a brown leather bomber jacket for him. For her, black leggings and a heavy beige mid-thigh sweater. He wore loafers without socks, as usual, even though a chill hung in the air. His feet were always hot. Sara was happy to have remembered to bring along a pair of flat shoes instead of sneakers.

A waitress arrived with their Eggs Benedict, minus the meat. Sara only then realized how hungry she felt. “The best place to start looking for information would be the building she lived in.”

“My thoughts too.” Huxley paused to chew. “In one of Emma's letters, she wrote that the building was old, but her father had fixed up their apartment. Most older places in this town are greatly remodeled. Might be a nice building.”

“The same people may not own it though.”

“And to hope someone would be there that knew the Ellis family…” He shrugged and looked upward, his eyes moved left and right, as if searching for any tidbit of information from memory that would help.

“Keep an open mind.” Sara placed her hand atop his. Their hands were warm together, a simple touch reassuring.

“We may learn nothing after so many decades.” He placed his fork on his empty plate and slugged down the last of his orange juice. “I'm so glad we share our lives, Sara. You understand how important this is to me.”

Sara flashed him her hoity silly grin. “Actually, I just want to get out of the sweltering Delta for a while.”

He could only roll his eyes and shake his head.

Breakfast behind them, they left Le Meridien on Battery Street heading south to Market Street. Sara could do nothing but stare out the windows, alternating in both directions. “Wow!” She blew out an exaggerated breath. “Wow!”

“I'm glad I'm driving.” Huxley gave her an understanding smile. They soon turned right onto Page Street heading westerly. Suddenly, he stomped on the brake, threw the Jeep into reverse and backed into a parking spot. Sara looked at him strangely. He shrugged, proud. “In this town, you grab a parking spot wherever you find one.”

“Well, we're almost there.” She stretched to see a building front through the windshield. “The street number here is 156. 363 should be a couple blocks ahead. Would be on the left side.”

Before leaving Courtland, Sara had placed the letters along with the photos in a much larger manila envelope that Huxley carried now. Sara wouldn't go anywhere without her iPad. She carried it in a thin tan case with a shoulder strap.

An uphill slant greeted them. “I read about these streets. Walking here could keep a person in great shape physically.” She grabbed her thighs and trudged along.

A gentle breeze wafted. The air was filled with a fine mist. A haze floated high overhead. Most buildings in the area were refurbished. He craned his neck. “Just look at these old Victorians.”

In what seemed to be a tradition of San Francisco, most buildings were brightly painted and nearly everyone well-kept. As they walked along, like two tourists, Sara briefly studied the architecture of each building, finding San Francisco to be an exciting place.

“Wish this haze would burn off.” Huxley flapped a hand as if trying to move the mists away. “It's the one thing I don't like about this city.”

Clouds passed over. A heavier mist enveloped them. Then it all passed as a weak sun shined through.

“Makes me feel damp and sticky.” She continued to study the architecture of yet another old renovated building. “Oh, gee!” She stopped suddenly and grabbed his arm. “Look where we are.”

Huxley glanced up and down the street and shrugged. Sara pointed to the street number on the wall above a building entrance. “618?” He tried to see the numbers above other doorways. “We need to pay attention to what we're doing.”
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